2004

Ken Brailsford v. Blaine P. Fetter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

Another lawsuit related to the lease that is the subject of the present matter was filed by Brailsford's assignor, the landlord, against Pina Unlimited, L.L.C., the tenant (*Warehouse Commercial, L.L.C. v. Pina Unlimited L.L.C.*, Third Judicial District Court, State of Utah, Salt Lake City, Civil No. 980905862). That case was filed before the present matter. In that initial lawsuit, the landlord sought, among other things, an injunction preventing the tenant from removing property from the leased premises at the time the tenant closed its restaurant business. The trial court eventually granted a prejudgment writ of attachment against the tenant. For convenience, the landlord's complaint in the prior lawsuit, as well as the order granting writ of attachment, are contained in the addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2a-3 and Rule 3, UTAH R. APP. P.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PARTIES

Appellant is Blaine Fetter, referred to herein as "appellant" or "Fetter." Appellee is Ken Brailsford, referred to herein as "appellee" or "Brailsford." As explained more fully below, Brailsford is the landlord's assignee with respect to alleged rights under the restaurant lease that is the subject of this lawsuit. Fetter is a guarantor of certain obligations the tenant had under the restaurant lease.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court err in granting Brailsford's motion for partial summary judgment as follows?:

- The trial court's order requires Fetter, pursuant to the subject guaranty of certain lease obligations, to pay for an expense that had been defined as "rent" despite the fact that the guaranty did not cover the payment of rent.
- The effect of the trial court's order is that a guarantor of a tenant under a lease must continue to pay for an improvement even after the lease is terminated and the premises and improvement are surrendered to, and accepted by, the landlord, and then used by subsequent tenants.
- The trial court awarded Brailsford a judgment for a specific dollar amount without taking into account that the amount is disputed and Fetter claims an offset.
- Summary judgment should have not been granted if there were inconsistencies and ambiguities in the relevant provisions of the subject lease.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal concerns the trial court's ruling on a motion for partial summary judgment. The appellate court reviews a trial court's summary judgment ruling for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *See*

Woodbury Amsource, Inc. v. Salt Lake County, 73 P.3d 362, 364 (Utah 2003), *Kouris v. Utah Highway Patrol*, 70 P. 3d 72 (Utah 2003); *Smith v. Smith*, 793 P.2d 407 (Utah App. 1990).

Additionally, to the extent the trial court interpreted the subject contracts, *i.e.* the lease agreement and guaranty, as a matter of law, the appellate court accords the trial court's construction no particular weight and the trial court's action is reviewed under a correctness standard. *See Kimball v. Campbell*, 699 P.2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985) (citation omitted). *See also Foster v. Montgomery*, 82 P.3d 191, 194 (Utah App. 2003) (questions of contract interpretation not requiring resort to extrinsic evidence are matters of law, and on such questions, the trial court's interpretation is accorded no presumption of correctness) (citations omitted).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

There do not appear to be any determinative constitutional provisions and statutes involved in this matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This case involves the enforcement of a written guaranty of certain lease obligations Fetter executed in favor of the landlord, Brailsford's assignor, with respect to a restaurant lease agreement between the landlord, Warehouse

Commercial, L.L.C., (referred to herein as “the landlord” or “Warehouse”) and its tenant, Pina Unlimited, L.L.C. (referred to herein as “Pina” or “the tenant”).

The trial court held Fetter is liable under the guaranty to pay for a particular tenant improvement despite the fact that payment for the improvement was expressly classified as rent under the lease and Fetter’s guaranty did not cover rental payments. Additionally, the trial court held that Fetter is liable despite the fact the restaurant lease was terminated less than two years into the ten-year term and the premises, along with the subject improvement, were surrendered to the landlord. The subject improvement was necessary for the space to continue to be used as a restaurant. The landlord subsequently leased the restaurant space to another restaurant operator who continued to use the improvement for which Brailsford seeks to recover from Fetter.

II. Course of Proceedings

Brailsford filed a motion for partial summary judgment against Fetter to enforce the guaranty, pursuant to the second and third causes of action contained in Brailsford’s amended complaint. The trial court granted Brailsford’s motion and a judgment was entered against Fetter. Brailsford dismissed all of its claims against Fetter’s co-defendants, without prejudice, in order for the judgment against Fetter to become final and enforceable. Once the other defendants were dismissed out of this case, Fetter filed his notice of appeal.

III. Disposition in Trial Court

The trial court granted partial summary judgment in Brailsford's favor. The effect of this ruling was to make Fetter, as a guarantor, liable for a tenant obligation not covered by the guaranty executed by Fetter. Additionally, the court's ruling makes Fetter liable for an improvement even after it was surrendered to the landlord and used in subsequent restaurant operations.¹

IV. Statement of Facts

1. On or about August 2, 1996, Warehouse Commercial, as landlord, entered into a Lease Agreement ("the lease") with Pina, as tenant. R. at p. 169, 173-196. (Although portions of the lease are cited from the record on appeal (referred to herein as "R"), for convenience, a true and correct copy of the lease, including the guaranty agreement, is also contained in the addendum to this brief).

2. The term of the lease was ten (10) years. *Id.* at p. 173.

3. The purpose of the lease was for Pina to operate the Pina restaurant at the premises located at 327 West 200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah ("the restaurant space"). *Id.* at p. 169. The building in which the restaurant space was located

¹ Fetter had also filed a cross motion for partial summary judgment which was denied. Fetter's appeal does not include review of the denial of his motion for summary judgment inasmuch as Brailsford had disclaimed and abandoned any claims that were related to Fetter's motion. See Transcript of hearing on motion for partial summary judgment (R. at 433) at pp. 35-36. At the center of this appeal is the question of Fetter's liability as a guarantor under the guaranty agreement the landlord assigned to Brailsford.

contained condominium units on the upper floors. *See* transcript of hearing on motion for summary judgment (R. at 433) at p. 5.

4. At the time the lease was entered into, the restaurant space had not been built out for use as a restaurant. It was essentially a “bare shell.” R. at p. 152. Accordingly, certain improvements were needed for the space to accommodate a restaurant operation. *Id.*

5. There is no dispute that among the improvements needed to convert the space into space where a restaurant business could operate, was a make up air and exhaust system (the “exhaust system”). *Id.* at p. 169. The exhaust system was needed to vent out fumes and smoke from the kitchen area and return fresh air into the space. *See* transcript of hearing on motion for partial summary judgment (R. at p. 433) at p. 5.

6. Exhibit B to the lease is a list of items designating which items were to be paid for by the landlord (“PAID BY LANDLORD”) (R. at p. 195) and which items were to be paid for by the tenant (“PAID BY TENANT”) (*id.* at p. 196) in order to turn the leased premises into the desired restaurant space.

7. The “PAID BY TENANT” list contained in Exhibit B to the lease expressly states that with respect to the exhaust system, Pina, as tenant, was only

obligated to pay for “the *design* of the make up air and² exhaust system” (emphasis added). *Id.* at p. 196.

8. While the tenant was responsible for payment for the *design* of the exhaust system, the landlord agreed to pay for the *equipment* and *installation* of the subject exhaust system. *Id.* at p. 195. Specifically, the “PAID BY LANDLORD” list contained in Exhibit B to the lease, states as follows:

PAID BY LANDLORD . . . HVAC equipment and ductwork to main floor and basement for 72 degree environment; *exhaust system for kitchen including make up air (excluding hoods) as designed by tenant* and approved by landlord HVAC engineer (system to be installed by tenant, but cost of equipment and installation financed by landlord and *repaid through rent*).

Id. (Emphasis added).

In other words, the landlord was required to pay for the cost and installation of the exhaust system, but would be reimbursed through rental payments.

9. Section 5 of the lease, entitled “Base Rent,” obligated Pina to pay rent for the restaurant space. *R.* at pp. 169 and 175. In addition to Pina’s obligation to pay the base rent, section 5 contains the following provision, a portion of which is handwritten:

[Note: These amounts will increase to include amortization of the cost of the *make up air and* exhaust

² The words: “make up air and” are hand-written.

system over a 5-year period, with interest at 8%] (italics indicate the handwritten portions).

R. at p. 175.

10. In connection with the lease, Fetter, along with another individual,³ agreed to sign a document entitled: Guaranty of Certain Lease Obligations (the “guaranty”), guaranteeing certain obligations Pina owed under the lease. *Id.* at pp. 197-199.

11. The guaranty Fetter signed provides as follows:

[T]he undersigned Guarantors hereby guarantee to Landlord the full and prompt payment of all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the design, construction and installation of all improvements to the leased premises *to be paid by Tenant*,⁴ and the performance of all of Tenants’ *other* duties and obligations set forth in sections 12 and 14 of the lease.

Id. at p. 198 (emphasis added).

12. The guaranty refers specifically to Sections 12 and 14 of the lease, but does not refer to the obligation to pay rent under paragraph 5 of the lease. *Id.*

³ Fetter’s co-guarantor was dismissed out of this case in order for the summary judgment against Fetter to become final. R. at 377-378.

⁴ The tenant obligations are those set forth under the “PAID BY TENANT” list contained in Exhibit B to the lease. R. at 196. This list only required the tenant to pay for the *design* of the exhaust system. *Id.*

13. The guaranty states that it is an “absolute and unconditional” guaranty only with respect to the performance of the tenant’s duties and obligations under sections 12 and 14 of the lease. *Id.*

14. Section 12 of the lease essentially states that the landlord is liable for the items in Exhibit B specified under the “PAID BY LANDLORD” list and that the tenant is liable for the items under the “PAID BY TENANT” list. *Id.* at p. 178. The “PAID BY TENANT” list specifically provides that the tenant is to pay for the *design* of the exhaust system, but does not state that the tenant is obligated to pay for the exhaust system equipment and/or installation. R. at p. 178 and 196. Section 12 of the lease does not refer to the exhaust system. *Id.* at p. 178.

15. Section 12 of the lease also refers to tenant *modifications* made to the “Landlord’s Improvements,” and the requirement that the tenant pay, in advance, “all construction, architectural and other costs incurred in connection with such changes on the basis of the Landlord’s cost to make such changes plus eight percent (8%).” *Id.*

16. Section 14 of the lease refers to any subsequent alterations and additions made to the restaurant space by the tenant during the term of the lease. *Id.* at pp. 179 and 180.

17. The lease and its attachments expressly classify the amortizations for the payment of the exhaust system as “rent.” R. at pp. 175 and 195.

18. While the guaranty states that Fetter's obligation is not impacted by any "assignment, renewal, modification or extension of the Lease," the guaranty *does not* state that Fetter remains bound if the lease were terminated and the premises surrendered to the landlord. *Id.* at p. 198.

19. The exhaust system cost over \$90,000.00, which amount was reduced by Pina's monthly rental payments. *Id.* at p. 170.

20. For purposes of clarity, and in light of the landlord's efforts to have Pina pay for mechanical items for which it was not required to pay, Pina made out separate checks for the base rental amount and the amount of additional rent attributable to the financing of the restaurant's exhaust system. *Id.* at p. 201-202.

21. Brailsford, through counsel, admitted in arguments made at the summary judgment hearing that the fact that separate checks were paid for the base rent and the rent attributable to the repayment of the exhaust system is of no import concerning the issue of whether the repayment for the exhaust system is classified as rent. *See* transcript of hearing on motion for partial summary judgment hearing (R. at p. 433) at p. 31.

22. The lease between the landlord and Pina was terminated in June 1998, less than two years into the term of the lease, when Pina closed its business. R. at p. 202. The landlord changed the locks to the premises, preventing Pina from having access to its personal property despite the fact that rental payments were

current. Pina surrendered the premises, including the improvements, to the landlord. *Id.*

23. Included among the improvements surrendered to the landlord at the time the lease was terminated was the subject exhaust system, which was needed for the leased space to accommodate a restaurant business. *Id.* at p. 202.

24. Following the termination of Pina's lease, it is undisputed the restaurant space was leased to another restaurant business. *Id.*

25. Fetter claims Pina paid for improvements for which he and the tenant were not obligated to pay, but received no credit or offset for these amounts. R. at pp. 77 and 202. Fetter and his co-defendants asserted in their answer to the amended complaint that they were entitled to offsets for amounts they paid on obligations that belonged to the landlord. *See id.* at pp. 110, 113 and 114.

26. Following termination of the lease, issues remained between the landlord and Pina concerning financial matters, including offsets claimed by Pina. *Id.* at pp. 77 and 202.

27. At the time Pina closed down its restaurant business, and before the current lawsuit was filed, a separate lawsuit was filed by the landlord against Pina to, among other things, enforce alleged liens on Pina's property and to enjoin Pina from removing any property from the premises. *Id.* *See also* addendum hereto at Exhibit "B."

28. On or about August 25, 1999, the landlord allegedly assigned its claims against Fetter and others to Brailsford.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Brailsford has no greater rights against Fetter than his assignor, the landlord. Fetter, as Pina's guarantor, did not guarantee the rent obligation under the lease. Payment for the exhaust system - the tenant improvement that is the subject of this case - was defined as "rent" under the lease documents. Therefore, Fetter cannot be held liable under the guaranty for the exhaust system. Even if payment for the subject improvement is not classified as rent, under the terms of the guaranty, Fetter cannot be held liable for the cost of the exhaust system equipment and installation.

Additionally, the landlord received the exhaust system at the termination of the lease. The landlord and its subsequent tenants have benefited from this improvement, which was needed for the space to continue to be used as a restaurant. Because the improvement was surrendered, Fetter is not required to pay for it. The landlord should not be allowed to keep the benefit of the improvement and, at the same time, require the tenant's guarantor to pay for it. Otherwise, the landlord improperly receives a windfall and Fetter is unfairly penalized.

Finally, there are questions of fact concerning the amount of the judgment. Fetter claims to have paid for improvements for which the landlord, rather than the tenant, was obligated to pay yet he has never been reimbursed for those payments. Fetter is entitled to an offset for these amounts.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

BRAILSFORD, AS THE LANDLORD'S ASSIGNEE, HAS NO GREATER RIGHTS THAN THE LANDLORD

It is a fundamental principle of law that an assignee of rights and obligations has no greater rights, and is in no better position than its assignor. *See, e.g., Wiscombe v. Lockhart Co.*, 608 P.2d 236, 238 (Utah 1980) (assignee takes nothing more by his assignor than his assignee had).

In the present matter, Brailsford claims to be the assignee of the landlord's rights against Fetter under the lease and guaranty. Because the lease was terminated in June 1998, Brailsford's rights are the same as the landlord's rights in light of that termination. In short, Brailsford cannot recover anything greater or better than the landlord could have received under the circumstances. Because of this principle of law, the use of the terms "landlord" and "Brailsford" in this brief are essentially interchangeable.

For the reasons set forth in more detail below, Brailsford, who has no choice but to stand in the landlord's shoes, cannot seek payment for the subject exhaust system from Fetter.

POINT 2.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN BRAILSFORD'S FAVOR BECAUSE FETTER DID NOT GUARANTEE THE PAYMENT OF RENT

A. Payment for the Exhaust System was Defined as Rent Under the Lease.

Under Exhibit B to the lease, where it individually lists the items the landlord was required to pay to prepare the restaurant space, it states: “[S]ystem to be installed by Tenant, but cost of equipment and installation financed by Landlord and *repaid through rent*.” R. at p. 195 (emphasis added). The lease itself, at section 5, states that the rent amount would “increase to include amortization of the cost of the make up air and exhaust system.” R. at 175. When the landlord and the tenant terminated the lease in June, 1998, the tenant's obligation to pay rent ceased. *See Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co.*, 776 P.2d 896, 900 (Utah 1989). Because the obligation to pay rent ceased, it is axiomatic that the tenant's obligation to pay for the exhaust system also ceased because that obligation was expressly defined and classified as “rent” under the lease.

It is well settled that the liability of the guarantor depends upon the construction and application of the primary contract being secured by the guaranty. *See* AM JUR. 2d. *Guaranty* §73 (1968). Therefore, because the tenant's obligation to pay for rent ended when the parties terminated the lease, Brailsford cannot now turn to Fetter to receive payment for rent under the guaranty.

B. *Under the Terms of the Guaranty Agreement, Fetter is Not Liable for the Exhaust System.*

"An instrument purporting to establish liability against a guarantor must be strictly construed." *Carrier Brokers, Inc. v. Spanish Trail*, 761 P.2d 268, 261 (Utah App. 1998) (citing *Valley Bank & Trust Co. v. Rite Way Concrete Forming, Inc.*, 742 P.2d 105, 110 (Utah App. 1987)). Liability under a guaranty "is not to be expanded beyond the fair import of its terms." *Carrier Brokers, Inc.*, 751 P.2d at 261 (citing *George E. Failing Co. v. Cardwell Inv. Co.*, 376 P.2d 892, 897 (Kan. 1962)). *See also, Grand Inv. Corp. v. Connaughton, Boyd & Kenter, P.C.*, 119 S.W. 3d. 101, 115 (Mo. Ct. App. 2003) ("a guarantor's liability is to be strictly construed according to the terms of the guaranty agreement in the guarantor's favor and may not be extended by implication beyond the strict letter of the obligation").

Additionally, like any other contract, any uncertainty or ambiguity as to the meaning of the terms of a guaranty contract is to be construed against the drafter. *See General Appliance Corp. v. Haw, Inc.*, 576 P.2d 346, 348 (Utah 1973).

Therefore, in this case, the landlord bears the risk of not being as clear and precise in preparing the guaranty as it might have otherwise been.

A strict reading of the subject guaranty shows that Fetter (and his co-guarantor) did not guarantee payment for the exhaust system, whether through rent payments or otherwise. The guaranty cannot be read to cover the tenant's obligations under section 5 of the lease (rent obligations). In fact, section 5 is referenced nowhere in the guaranty.

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