2004

Ken Brailsford v. Blaine Fetter : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

(...continued)

77 P. 758 (1904); *Snyder v. Fidelity Savings Association*, 23 Utah 291, 64 P. 870 (1901); *Woodward v. Edmonds*, 20 Utah 118, 57 P. 848 (1899); *Peay v. Salt Lake City*, 11 Utah 331, 40 P. 206 (1895)). As demonstrated by Fetter's own actions, the Exhaust System was a Tenant Improvement to be paid for by Pina under Sections 12 and 14 of the Lease. Therefore, Fetter is liable to repay said costs under the Guaranty.

Fetter argues that Pina had no obligation to pay for the costs and installation of the Exhaust System under Sections 12 and 14 because the list of items "TO BE PAID BY TENANT" on Exhibit B only identifies the design of the Exhaust System. Fetter further claims, at the very least, that Exhibit B is ambiguous.⁴ Fetter's argument is without merit. Pursuant to basic principles of contract interpretation, neither the Lease nor the Guaranty is ambiguous.

In interpreting a contract, courts first look to the four corners of the agreement to determine the intent of the parties. *Cherry v. Utah State Univ.* 966 P.2d 866, 869 (Utah App. 1998). It is axiomatic that a contract should be interpreted so as to harmonize all of its provisions and all of its terms, and that all of its terms should be given effect. *Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Associates*, 752 P.2d 892, 895 (Utah 1988); *Utah Valley Bank v.*

⁴ Fetter incorrectly asserts that because the Lease is allegedly ambiguous, it should be construed against the drafter, who Fetter infers is Warehouse. However, there is no support in the record for the assertion that Warehouse drafted either the Lease or the Guaranty. Therefore, the argument must be rejected.

Tanner, 636 P.2d 1060, 1061-62 (Utah 1981); *WebBank v. American General Annuity Service Corp.*, 54 P.3d 1139, 1144 (Utah 2002) (in interpreting contract, court looks to writing itself to ascertain parties' intentions, and considers each contract provision in relation to all others, with view toward giving effect to all and ignoring none). A contract provision is not necessarily ambiguous because parties differ in their interpretation of its language. *Willard Pease Oil and Gas Co. v. Pioneer Oil and Gas Co.*, 899 P.2d 766, 772 (Utah 1995). To demonstrate an ambiguity in a contract provision, the contrary positions must each be a reasonable interpretation of the terms of the provision. *Id.*

Here, the only reasonable interpretation of the Lease and the Guaranty is that Fetter is obligated to pay for the cost and installation of the Exhaust System because Pina was obligated to pay for it. Any other interpretation would be contrary to the intent of the parties.

Fetter's argument ignores these principles of contract interpretation and overlooks key contractual provisions. First, Fetter ignores Section 12 of the Lease which provides that "Tenant shall be responsible, and shall pay the full cost for all other improvements to the premises, as shown and described on attached Exhibit "B." Second, Fetter ignores Exhibit "B" to the Lease, which provides that "exhaust system for kitchen including make-up air (excluding hoods), as designed by Tenant (system to be installed by Tenant, **but cost of equipment and installation financed by Landlord and repaid through**

rent).” Finally, Fetter ignores Section 5 of the Lease which states that “Note: These amounts will increase to include amortization of the cost of the make up air and exhaust system over a 5-year period, with interest at 8%.”

When read together, these contractual provisions demonstrate the intent of the parties that Warehouse was to finance the initial costs and installation of the Exhaust System, that Pina was to repay those costs, and that Fetter was to guarantee them. It was never the intent of the parties to burden the Landlord with the costs of the Exhaust System. Fetter’s interpretation is contrary to the intent of the parties. In short, Fetter is liable for the cost of the Exhaust System because it was a Tenant Improvement cost to be paid by Pina under the Lease and Fetter personally guaranteed Pina’s obligation to pay for it.

B. Pina Was Also Obligated To Pay For The Exhaust System Pursuant To Section 5 Of The Lease.

Even if the Exhaust System was not a “Tenant Improvement,” Pina nevertheless agreed to pay for the costs of the Exhaust System under Section 5 of the Lease. Section 5 of the Lease specifically provides that:

Base Rent. Tenant covenants and agrees to pay to Landlord, its representatives, agents, successors and assigns, as minimum rental for the premises the following amounts (the “Base Rent”):

[Note: These amounts will increase to include amortization of the cost of the makeup air and exhaust system over a 5-year period, with interest at 8%] (emphasis original).

Although the amortized costs of the Exhaust System were to be repaid with rent, they did not constitute rent. Rather, the rental amount was simply increased by the amortization of the costs of the Exhaust System for five years even though the lease itself was for ten years.

Additionally, both Fetter and Pina characterized the obligation as a “Loan” rather than rent by preparing an amortization schedule, and by making out separate checks for the rent and the repayment of the amortized costs of the Exhaust System. *Trucker Sales Corp. v. Potter*, 104 Utah 1, 137 P.2d 370, 371 (1943). Thus, the trial court properly construed the obligation as the repayment of a loan, rather than rent.

Fetter argues that he did not guarantee Pina’s obligation to pay for the Exhaust System because there is nothing in the Guaranty which specifically references Section 5 of the Lease or Pina’s obligation to pay rent. In making this argument, Fetter ignores the plain language of his Guaranty: “Guarantors hereby guarantee to Landlord the full and prompt payment of **all costs and expenses incurred in connection with . . . the construction and installation of all improvements to the leased premises to be paid by Tenant.**” (emphasis added). Here, there is no question that the Exhaust System is an **improvement** to the leased premises. The fact that Pina was expressly obligated to repay the Landlord the costs of the Exhaust System whether by direct payment, or along with

the rents, should end the inquiry because Fetter guaranteed to pay for the costs of all improvements to be paid by Pina.

II. THE GUARANTY WAS NOT TERMINATED BY THE ALLEGED SURRENDER AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE LEASED PREMISES.

Fetter claims that because the Lease was allegedly terminated under the doctrine of “surrender and acceptance,” both Pina’s obligation to pay for the costs of the Exhaust System and Fetter’s Guaranty were terminated. Fetter’s argument lacks merit for several reasons.

A. Fetter Has Waived The Affirmative Defense of “Surrender and Acceptance.”

Fetter’s argument that the premises was “surrendered and accepted” has been waived. Surrender and acceptance is an affirmative defense. *Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co.*, 776 P.2d 896, 901 (Utah 1989). Failure to plead an affirmative defense constitutes a waiver of the defense pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 12(h). *Valley Bank and Trust Co. v. Wilken*, 668 P.2d 493, 493 (Utah 1983). Fetter failed to plead “surrender and acceptance” as an affirmative defense in his Answer to the Amended Complaint. (R. 108-115.) Accordingly, it has been waived.

B. The Doctrine Of Surrender And Acceptance Is Inapplicable.

Even if the Court finds no waiver, the doctrine of surrender and acceptance is inapplicable in this case. First, Brailsford is not attempting to recover rents. Rather, he is attempting to recover payments for improvements which were financed by the Landlord

and which were to be repaid by the Tenant. Said repayments do not constitute rent and were simply repayments of a loan. Even Fetter has characterized the payments as an amortization of a loan rather than payment of rent.

Second, the Lease has never been terminated. Section 26.3 of the Lease provides in part that:

. . . No such re-entry or retaking possession of the premises by Landlord shall be construed as an election on its part to terminate this Lease unless a written notice of such intention is given to Tenant or unless the termination thereof is decreed by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Even though a court entered an order granting a writ of attachment, it never ruled that the Lease was terminated. Nor did the Landlord give any written notice of its intent to terminate the Lease. In fact, the very purpose of the action was premised on Pina's breach of the Lease for ceasing to make the monthly rental payments. Therefore, the Lease was not terminated.⁵

⁵ Fetter cites *Reid v. Mutual Of Omaha Ins. Co.*, 776 P.2d 896, 900 (Utah 1989) in support of his argument that the Lease was allegedly terminated by surrender and acceptance. In *Reid*, the tenant gave notice and voluntarily vacated the premises. *Id.* at 890. The Landlord subsequently remodeled the premises and leased it to another tenant. *Id.* Even under those circumstances, the *Reid* court held that the Landlord's actions did not amount to a termination of the lease by reason of surrender and acceptance.

Here, unlike the tenant in *Reid*, Pina never voluntarily surrendered the leased premises. Instead, a court entered an order granting a writ of attachment and allowing the constable to change the locks due to Pina's breach of the Lease. Therefore, Pina never

(continued...)

Third, the doctrine of surrender and acceptance does not apply because the Tenant is liable for rents even after termination of the Lease. Section 26.3 of the Lease provides that:

. . . Should Landlord at any time terminate this Lease for any breach, in addition to any other remedies Landlord may have, Landlord may recover from Tenant all damages it may incur by reason of such breach, including . . . the present value (calculated using a 6% interest factor) at the time of such termination of the excess, if any, of the amount of rent and charges equivalent to rent reserved in this Lease for the remainder of the lease term over the then reasonable rental value of the premises for the remainder of the lease term, all of which amounts shall be immediately due and payable from Tenant to Landlord.

Thus, even if the Lease were terminated, the Tenant was nevertheless obligated to pay rent.

Finally, termination of a lease by reason of surrender and acceptance only operates to discharge the lessee from **future** obligations to pay rent. *Reid v. Mutual of Omaha*, 776 P.2d 896, 900 (Utah 1989); *Petersen v. Hodges*, 121 Utah 72, 239 P.2d 180, 182 (1951). It does not relieve the lessee of liability incurred **prior** to the surrender. *Nicholas A. Cutaia, Inc. v. Buyer's Bazaar, Inc.*, 637 N.Y.S.2d 857 (N.Y. App. 1996); 49 Am. Jur. 2d *Landlord and Tenant* § 261 (2004) (the surrender of a lease by a tenant, even though made with the consent of or by agreement with the landlord, operates only to

(...continued)

voluntarily surrendered the premises and the doctrine of surrender and acceptance cannot apply.

release him from liability on the covenants taking effect after the date of the surrender). In this case, Pina's obligation to pay for the cost and installation of the Exhaust System was incurred prior to any alleged termination of the Lease. Moreover, due to Pina's breach, all rents were accelerated and were due prior to any alleged termination of the Lease. Therefore, even if the Lease was terminated by the doctrine of "surrender and acceptance," Fetter remains liable.

C. The Guaranty Was Unconditional.

Even if the Lease were terminated by the doctrine of "surrender and acceptance," the Guaranty was meant to be enforceable after the Lease had been breached or terminated. Indeed, that was the very purpose of the Guaranty. Under Utah law, a guarantee of the payment of an obligation without words of limitation or condition, is construed as an absolute and unconditional guaranty. *Valley Bank and Trust Co. v Rite Way Concrete Farming, Inc.*, 742 P.2d 105, 100 (Utah App. 1987); *Strevell-Patterson Co. Inc. v. Francis*, 646 P.2d 741, 743 (Utah 1982); *North Park Bank of Commerce v. Bottum*, Utah 645 P.2d 620 (Utah 1982).

The Guarantee did not provide any words of limitation or condition. Rather, the Guaranty confirmed that it is absolute and unconditional and meant to survive termination of the Lease. The Guaranty specifically provides that:

This Guaranty is an absolute and unconditional guaranty of payment and of performance of the duties and obligations of

Tenant under Sections 12 and 14 of the Lease. It shall be enforceable against the Guarantors, or either of them, without the necessity of any suit or proceedings on the Landlord's part of any kind or nature whatsoever against the Tenant. **The Guarantors hereby expressly agree that the validity of this Guaranty and the obligations of the Guarantors hereunder shall in no way be terminated, affected, diminished or impaired by reason of the assertion or failure to assert by the Landlord against the Tenant any of the rights and remedies available to the Landlord, or by relief of Tenant from any of Tenant's obligations under the Lease by rejection of the Lease in connection with the proceedings under the bankruptcy or insolvency laws now or hereafter in effect or otherwise.**

This Guaranty shall be a continuing guaranty, and the liability of the Guarantors hereunder shall in no way be affected, modified or diminished by reason of any assignment, renewal, modification or extension of the Lease or by reason of any modification or waiver of or change in any of the terms, covenants, conditions or provisions of the Lease, or by reason of any extensions of time that may be granted by the Landlord to the Tenant or by reason of a change for different use of the demised premises or by reason of any dealings or transactions or matters or things occurring between Landlord and the Tenant, whether or not the Guarantors have knowledge or notice thereof

All the Landlord's rights and remedies under the said Lease or under this Guaranty are intended to be distinct, separate and cumulative, and no such right and remedy therein or herein mentioned is intended to be an exclusion or a waiver of any of the others

(R. at 197-199.) (emphasis added). Therefore, even if the Lease was terminated by

“surrender and acceptance”, Fetter is nevertheless liable under the Guaranty for the cost and installation of the Exhaust System.

D. Recovery Under The Guaranty Does Not Amount To A Double Recovery.

Finally, allowing the Landlord to keep the Exhaust System and to recover additional amounts would not amount to an impermissible double recovery. It is generally recognized that absent a specific lease term to the contrary, fixtures placed on a premises by a tenant remain with the leased premises after eviction. *See generally, State v. Attman/Glazer P.B. Co.*, 594 A.2d 138, 146 (Md. 1990) (“the [trial] court concluded that it would be unfair for [landlord] to realize the value of these improvements as part of the condemnation award when the improvements were paid for by the [tenant]. In so concluding, the court ignored the plain language of the lease and violated well-settled contract law.”).

Pina was specifically required to both pay for and surrender the improvements upon termination of the Lease. Section 20 of the Lease provides that:

SURRENDER OF PREMISES: At the termination of the tenancy hereby created, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord the leased premises in the same condition as the leased premises were in upon delivery of possession thereof to Tenant . . . Tenant’s obligations to observe or perform this covenant shall survive expiration or other termination of the term of this Lease.

Accordingly, the fact that the Exhaust System was left on the premises and is presumably now being used by a new restaurant tenant is of no legal significance to the question of whether Pina should have paid for it. Pina was obligated to pay for the Exhaust System

whether it remained in the leased premises for the full ten years or not. And, Fetter unconditionally guaranteed to pay for the Exhaust System if Pina failed to do so.

The cases cited by Fetter are easily distinguishable. In each of the cases cited by Fetter, the Landlord tried to recover damages for improvements made to the premises after the Lease was terminated. The Landlord claimed that such costs were necessary to relet the premises. In this instance, Pina was required to pay for the improvements from the outset. Accordingly, Fetter's argument must be rejected.

III. FETTER IS NOT ENTITLED TO AN OFFSET.

Fetter is not entitled to an offset as a matter of law. Fetter failed to argue that he was entitled to an offset in the trial court. It is well settled that appellate courts generally will not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. *In re Schwenke*, 89 P.3d 117, 125 (Utah 2004); *The View Condominium Owners Association v. MSICO, L.L.C.*, 90 P.3d 1042, 1052 (Utah App. 2004). Fetter failed to argue in the trial court that he was entitled to an offset for "additional tenant improvements" which Fetter allegedly incurred in excess of those agreed to under the Lease. Accordingly, this Court should decline Fetter's invitation to consider this argument.

In any event, Fetter is not entitled to an offset. Section 12 of the Lease specifically provides that:

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